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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.

Civ. No.

TRIDENT SEAFOODS CORPORATION,
Defendant.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, the United States of America, by the authority of the Attorney General and
through the undersigned attorneys, and at the request of the United States Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA”), files this Complaint and alleges as follows:
I.
1.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is a civil action brought pursuant to Section 309 of the Clean Water Act

(“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1319, against Defendant Trident Seafoods Corporation (“Trident” or
“Defendant”). The United States seeks injunctive relief and civil penalties against Trident for
violations of the permit conditions and limitations of the National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System (“NPDES”) permits issued to Trident by the EPA under Section 402(a) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a), at Trident’s Sand Point and Wrangell facilities (“Facilities”) in
Alaska. Trident has continued to violate the CWA and its NPDES permits by violating permit
limits on “zones of deposit” (seafood processing waste piles), annual and daily discharge limits,
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grind size requirements for discharged seafood processing waste, requirements for proper
handling and treating of seafood processing waste prior to discharge, and monitoring and
reporting requirements.
II.
2.

JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND NOTICE

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 309(b) of the

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355.
3.

Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to Section 309(b) of the CWA,

33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), because the Defendant is located and is doing business in this judicial
district.
4.

Notice of the commencement of this action has been given to the State of Alaska

pursuant to Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).
III.

PARTIES

5.

Plaintiff is the United States of America, acting at the request and on behalf of

6.

Defendant is Trident Seafoods Corporation, a privately held corporation that is

EPA.

organized under the laws of the State of Washington and owns and operates at least twenty fish
processing facilities in Alaska and the Pacific Northwest.
7.

Defendant is a “person” within the meaning of Section 502(5) of the CWA, 33

U.S.C. § 1362(5).
8.

At all relevant times, Defendant owned and operated commercial seafood

processing facilities in Sand Point and Wrangell, Alaska (the “Facilities,” each, a “Facility”). At

Complaint

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Environment and Natural Resources Division
P.O. Box 7611, Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
(202) 305-0439
Page 2 of 12

Case 2:18-cv-00210 Document 1 Filed 02/09/18 Page 3 of 13

all relevant times, Defendant maintained full control over the operational decisions at the
Facilities, including, but not limited to, the discharges of pollutants from the Facilities.
IV.
9.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

The CWA is designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and

biological integrity of the nation’s waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).
10.

To accomplish this goal, Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a),

prohibits the discharge of any pollutant by any person to waters of the United States except as
authorized by, and in compliance with, certain enumerated Sections of the CWA, including
Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.
11.

Section 502(12) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines “discharge of a

pollutant” to include “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”
12.

Section 502(6) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), defines “pollutant” to include a

wide variety of chemical and biological wastes and materials.
13.

Section 502(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), defines “navigable waters” to

mean “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.”
14.

Section 502(14) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14), defines “point source” to

mean “any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe,
[or] conduit . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged.”
15.

Section 502(11) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(11), defines “effluent limitation”

to mean any restriction established by a State or EPA on quantities, rates, and concentrations of
chemical, physical, biological, and other constituents which are discharged from point sources
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into navigable waters, the waters of a contiguous zone, or the ocean, including schedules of
compliance.
16.

Pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, the Administrator of the

EPA (“Administrator”) may issue NPDES permits, which authorize the discharge of pollutants
into waters of the United States. Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, directs the
Administrator to impose conditions for NPDES permits, including conditions on data and
information collection, reporting, and such other requirements as the Administrator deems
appropriate.
17.

Section 309(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), subjects any person who

violates, inter alia, any permit condition or limitation implementing Section 301 of the CWA in
a permit issued under Section 402 of the CWA, to civil penalties. Pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461, and 40 C.F.R. Part 19, as amended, civil penalties may be assessed in an amount not to
exceed $37,500 per day for each violation occurring after January 12, 2009, and not to exceed
$51,570 per day for each violation occurring after November 2, 2015.
18.

Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), authorizes the EPA to

commence a civil action for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction,
for any violation for which a compliance order under Section 309(a) is also authorized. Section
309(a)(3) authorizes EPA to issue compliance orders whenever it finds that any person has
violated Section 301 of the CWA or any condition or limitation in a permit issued pursuant to
Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.
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V.
19.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

Defendant’s Sand Point and Wrangell facilities generate seafood processing

solids and other wastes, which are “pollutants” within the meaning of Sections 502(6) and (12)
of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1362(6) and (12), and discharge pollutants from outfalls into the
Popof and Zimovia Straits, respectively.
A.

Sand Point Facility
20.

Defendant’s Sand Point facility is located on Popof Island, off the southern coast

of the Alaska Peninsula and approximately 580 miles southwest of Anchorage, Alaska. The
facility processes cod, halibut, pollock, salmon, and other assorted bottom fish.
21.

The Sand Point facility is authorized to discharge pollutants into Popof Strait by

an individual NPDES Permit Number AK0052787 (“Sand Point Permit”), issued by EPA on
August 10, 1999.
22.

The Sand Point Permit expired on September 13, 2004, but has been

administratively extended in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 122.6 and remains in full force and
effect.
23.

The Sand Point Permit established effluent limitations, standard and special

operating conditions, and monitoring and reporting requirements for discharges from the Sand
Point facility outfall, including, but not limited to, the following:
a.

a one-acre zone of deposit limit;

b.

timely modification of the Sand Point facility’s Best Management Practices

plan when called for by the Sand Point Permit;
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c.

a requirement that all seafood processing waste be ground to one-half inch

or less before discharge;
d.

a prohibition on discharge of seafood processing waste measuring more

than one-half inch;
e.

a prohibition on discharge of effluents which cause a foam, film, sheen,

scum, or deposit to form on the surface of the receiving water or upon the adjacent shorelines;
f.

a provision authorizing the discharge of wastewater, solids, and residues

from the seafood processing and related support activities through designated outfalls only;
g.

a provision authorizing discharge of only wastewater, solids, and residues

from the processing of seafood and related support activities; and
h.
24.

various sampling and reporting requirements.

From at least January 2010 through the present and as shown in Defendant’s dive

surveys and annual reports relating to this time period, the seafood waste pile on the seafloor at
Defendant’s Sand Point facility has exceeded the one-acre zone of deposit limit, in violation of
the Sand Point Permit and the Act.
25.

From January 2010 through the present, Defendant failed to update its Best

Management Practices plan to address the one-acre zone of deposit exceedance, in violation of
the Sand Point Permit and the Act.
26.

On several occasions, as shown in Defendant’s dive survey report relating to

2011 and annual reports relating to 2011 and 2012, Defendant failed to grind its seafood
processing waste to one-half inch or less before discharge, in violation of the Sand Point Permit
and the Act.
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27.

On at least one occasion, including on or around August 1, 2011, and as shown in

Defendant’s annual report relating to that year, Defendant discharged effluents that caused a
foam, film, sheen, scum, or deposit to form on the surface of the receiving water or upon the
adjacent shorelines, in violation of the Sand Point Permit and the Act.
28.

On at least three occasions, including on or around April 26, 2010, October 3,

2013, and October 18, 2013 and as shown in Defendant’s annual reports relating to those years,
Defendant discharged effluents from points other than authorized outfalls, in violation of the
Sand Point Permit and the Act.
29.

On at least two occasions, including on or around October 3, 2011 and February

23, 2015 and as shown in Defendant’s related annual reports and/or inspection reports produced
by the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, Defendant discharged unauthorized
waste streams, in violation of the Sand Point Permit and the Act.
30.

On at least ten occasions, including in 2010, 2011, and 2013 and as shown in

Defendant’s annual reports relating to those years, Defendant failed to comply with sampling and
monitoring requirements contained in the Sand Point Permit, in violation of the Sand Point
Permit and the Act.
B.

Wrangell Facility
31.

Defendant’s Wrangell facility is located on Wrangell Island in southeast Alaska,

approximately 130 miles south-southeast of Juneau, Alaska. The facility processes all species of
Alaska salmon and herring.
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32.

The Wrangell facility is authorized to discharge seafood processing waste into

Zimovia Strait by the Seafood General Permit (unique identifier No. AK-G52-0058) and the
applicable grants of discharge authorization.
33.

The Seafood General Permit expired on July 27, 2006, but has been

administratively extended and remains in full force and effect at the Wrangell facility in
accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 122.6.
34.

The Seafood General Permit and the accompanying discharge authorizations

established effluent limitations, standard and special operating conditions, as well as monitoring
and reporting requirements for discharges that apply to the Wrangell facility, including, but not
limited to, the following:
a.

a one-acre zone of deposit limit;

b.

an annual discharge limit of 3,000,000 pounds of salmon processing waste

applicable during the 2010 processing season;
c.

a daily discharge limit of 289,000 pounds of salmon processing waste

applicable during the 2011 processing season;
d.

a requirement that all seafood processing waste be ground to one-half inch

or less before discharge;
e.

a prohibition on discharge of seafood processing waste measuring more

than one-half inch;
f.

a requirement that Defendant properly maintain and operate all facilities and

systems of treatment and control that are installed or used to achieve compliance with the
conditions of the permit;
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g.

a prohibition on discharge of seafood processing waste from a severed,

failed, or leaking outfall line ten days past such unrepaired severance, failure, or damage; and
h.

a requirement that all seafood processing waste be routed through a waste

conveyance and treatment system.
35.

From at least August 2011 until February 2013, and from August 2013 to March

2014, and as shown in Defendant’s dive surveys and annual reports relating to that time period,
the seafood waste pile on the seafloor at Defendant’s Wrangell facility exceeded the one-acre
zone of deposit limit, in violation of the Seafood General Permit and the Act.
36.

During the 2010 processing season and as shown in Defendant’s annual report

relating to that year, Defendant’s discharge of salmon processing waste exceeded the annual
volume discharge limit by 921,641 pounds, in violation of the Seafood General Permit and the
Act.
37.

On at least two days, on July 17, 2011 and July 27, 2011, and as shown in

Defendant’s annual report relating to that year, Defendant’s daily discharge of salmon processing
waste exceeded the daily discharge volume limit by over 12,000 pounds and 24,000 pounds,
respectively, in violation of the Seafood General Permit and the Act.
38.

On at least 206 occasions, from 2010 to 2013, and as shown in Defendant’s

annual reports and dive surveys relating to those years, Defendant exceeded the one-half inch
size limit for discharged seafood waste, in violation of the Seafood General Permit and the Act.
39.

At some point between March and October 2013, and as shown in Defendant’s

annual report relating to that year, the Wrangell facility’s outfall line was severed and Defendant
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continued to discharge from the severed line, in violation of the Seafood General Permit and the
Act.
40.

On at least nine occasions, including in 2010, 2012, and 2013, and as shown in

Defendant’s annual reports relating to those years, seafood waste was not routed through a waste
conveyance and treatment system prior to discharge, in violation of the Seafood General Permit
and the Act.
COUNT 1
[Claim for Civil Penalties under CWA Section 309(d)]
41.

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this Complaint

as if they were fully set forth herein.
42.

On numerous occasions since 2010, Defendant violated the CWA by not

complying with NPDES Permit conditions and limitations at the Sand Point and Wrangell
facilities.
43.

Trident is liable for civil penalties under Section 309(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §

1319(d), in an amount not to exceed $37,500 per day for each violation occurring after January
12, 2009, and not to exceed $51,570 per day for each violation occurring after November 2,
2015.
COUNT 2
[Claim for Injunctive Relief for under CWA Section 309(b)]
44.

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this Complaint

as if they were fully set forth herein.
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45.

Upon information and belief, Trident continues to remain out of compliance with

the conditions and limitations of the applicable NPDES permits at the Sand Point and Wrangell
facilities.
46.

Unless enjoined, Trident’s CWA violations at the Sand Point and Wrangell

facilities will continue.
47.

As a result of these violations, the United States is entitled to injunctive relief

pursuant to Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and this Court’s equitable
authority.
RELIEF SOUGHT
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:
a.

Enjoin Trident from discharging pollutants except as authorized by the limitations

and conditions of Trident’s applicable NPDES permits;
b.

Order Trident to undertake expeditiously all necessary measures to comply with

the Clean Water Act and the limitations and conditions of the applicable NPDES permits;
c.

Order Trident to pay the United States a civil penalty not to exceed $37,500 per

day for each violation of the applicable NPDES permits occurring after January 12, 2009, and
not to exceed $51,570 per day for each violation occurring after November 2, 2015;
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and
d.

Grant the United States such other relief as may be just and proper and as the

public interest and the equities of the case may require.

Respectfully Submitted,
NATHANIEL DOUGLAS
Deputy Section Chief
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
United States Department of Justice

Dated: February 8, 2018

/s/ Frederick S. Phillips
FREDERICK S. PHILLIPS, Senior Attorney
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
Phone: (202) 305-0439
Email: frederick.phillips@usdoj.gov
ANNETTE L. HAYES
United States Attorney
BRIAN KIPNIS
Assistant United States Attorney
U.S. Attorney’s Office, Western District of
Washington
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on February 9, 2018, a copy of the foregoing Complaint was filed
electronically with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system. I further certify that I
have served this filing on Joseph T. Plesha, Chief Legal Officer for the Defendant Trident
Seafoods Corporation at 5303 Shilshole Avenue, N.W., Seattle, WA 98107-4000 by electronic
mail.
/S/ Frederick S. Phillips
Senior Attorney
U.S. Dept. of Justice, ENRD/EES

